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333 Chestnut Street Suite 1,  Mifflinburg, PA  17844            570-713-9761             Peg@McCluskeyCPA.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 

 
Board of Trustees 
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL 
Loganton, Pennsylvania 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
 

Sugar Valley Rural Charter School 
  

as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the School’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted  in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of  financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, and to the standards applicable 
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement.   
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
We believe that the audit evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of Sugar Valley Rural Charter School as of June 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position 
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matters 
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in the year ended June 30, 2021, the School adopted the new 
accounting guidance of guidance of GASB Statement No 84 – Fiduciary Activities and GASB Statement No 88 - Certain 
Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements. The School has also implemented use 
of a Capital Projects fund to account for construction of a gymnasium. Our report is not modified with respect to these 
matters. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
 
Other Matters 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and 
analysis (pages 4 through 12), budgetary information, supplementary pension information, other postemployment 
benefits information and related notes (pages 43 through 49) be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements 
in an appropriate operational, economic and historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United State of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 18, 2019 on our 
consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide 
an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Mifflinburg, Pennsylvania 
February 21, 2022 
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This section of the Sugar Valley Rural Charter School’s annual financial report presents our 

discussion and analysis of the School’s financial performance during the fiscal year that ended on 

June 30, 2021. Please read it in conjunction with the School’s financial statements, which 

immediately follows this section. 

 

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is an element of Required Supplementary 

Information specified in the Governmental Accounting Standard Discussion Board’s (GASB) 

Statement No. 34- Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for 

State and Local Governments issued in June 1999. Certain comparative information between the 

current year (2020-2021) and the prior year (2019-2020) is required to be presented in the MD&A.  

 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 

Key financial highlights for the 2020-2021 fiscal year include the following: 

 

 Net position was ($1,556,123) (deficit) on June 30, 2020, and ($1,717,630) (deficit)  on 

June 30, 2021. The net position includes accounting changes to reflect PSERS deficits at 

the state level in the school district’s financial statement.  The decrease in net position 

reflects $212,019 less revenue than expenses. 

 New funds were created this year.  The Capital Project fund is used to record transactions 

relative to the gymnasium construction and the Special Revenue Student Activities fund 

accounts for transactions of student clubs.  Student clubs had previously been accounted 

for as a Fiduciary fund, it is now accounted for as a governmental fund in accordance with 

GASB Statement 84. 

 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The financial section of the annual report consists of  

 

 Independent Auditors’ Report 

 Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

 Basic Financial Statements 

 School-wide Financial Statements 

 Fund Financial Statements 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 

 Budget and Actual Comparison 

 Information related to Pension Benefit Obligations 

 Information related to Other Post Employment Benefit Obligations 

 

The basic financial statements include two kinds of statements that present different views of the 

School: 

 

 The first two statements are school-wide financial statements that provide both short-term 

and long-term information about the Schools overall financial status. 
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 The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of 

the school, reporting the school’s operations in more detail than the school-wide 

statements. 

 

 The governmental funds statements include the General fund, Capital Projects 

fund and Special Revenue Student Activities fund. The General fund  tells how 

basic services such as regular and special education were financed in the short 

term as well as what remains for future spending.   

 Proprietary funds statements offer short-and long-term financial information 

about the activities the school operates like businesses. 

 Fiduciary funds statements provide information about the financial relationships 

in which the School acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of others to 

whom the resources belong. 

 

The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the statements 

and provide more detailed data. 

 

 

Following is a description of the School-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements 

--- 

 

School-wide Statements 

 

The school-wide financial statements report information about the School as a whole using 

accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies. All of the current year’s 

revenues and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities regardless of when cash is 

received or paid. The statement of net position includes all of the School’s assets and liabilities. 

  

The two school-wide statements report the School’s net position and how they have changed. Net 

position represents the difference between the School’s assets and deferred outflows, and the 

Schools liabilities and deferred inflows. Consideration of net position is one way to measure the 

School’s financial health or position. Over time, increases or decreases in the School’s net position 

are an indicator of whether its financial position is improving or deteriorating. To assess the overall 

health of the School you also need to consider additional non-financial factors such as changes in 

the tuition rate received from Home School district of students and the condition of school buildings 

and other facilities. 

 

In the school wide financial statements the School’s activities are shown in two categories: 

 

 Governmental activities-Most of the School’s basic services are included here, such as 

regular and special education, transportation, administration, community education, capital 

projects and student activities. The tuition received from Home School district of students 

and state aids finance most of these activities. 

 Business Type activities-The school’s cafeteria is a business type activity. 
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Fund Financial Statements  

 

The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the School’s funds - 

focusing on its most significant or “major” funds - not the School as a whole. Funds are accounting 

devices the School uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending on particular 

programs: 

 

 Some funds are required by State law. 

 

The School has three kinds of funds: 

 

 Governmental funds- Most of the School’s basic services are included in governmental 

funds, which generally focus on (1) how cash and other financial assets that can readily be 

converted to cash flow in and out and (2) the balances left at year-end that are available for 

spending. Consequently, the governmental funds statements provide a detailed short- term 

view that helps to determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can 

be spent in the near future to finance the School’s programs. Because this information does 

not encompass the additional long-term focus of the School-wide statements, we provide 

additional information at Exhibits D and F that explains the relationship (or differences) 

between the School-wide statements and the governmental funds statements. 

 

 Proprietary funds – Services for which the School charges a fee are generally reported in 

proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are reported in the same way as the School-wide 

statements. 

 

The school uses enterprise funds to report activities that provide supplies and services for 

the schools other programs and activities.  The school currently has one enterprise fund for 

the cafeteria. 

 

Enterprise funds are established in the School to account for goods and services provided 

to the student body and staff.  The food service fund is the primary enterprise fund of the 

school.  The prices charged by the cafeteria may not materially exceed its expenditures.  

Any funds remaining from operations must be used only for the maintenance and 

improvement of the school’s cafeteria facilities. 

 

 Fiduciary funds- The School is the trustee, or fiduciary, for assets that belong to others.  

The School is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used only 

for their intended purposes and by those to whom the assets belong. All of the School’s 

fiduciary activities are reported in a separate statement of fiduciary net position and a 

statement of changes in fiduciary net position. We exclude these activities from the school-

wide financial statements because the School cannot use these assets to finance its 

operations. 
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Overview Summary 

 

Figure A-1 summarizes the major features of the School’s financial statements, including the 

portion of the School’s activities they cover and the types of information they contain.  

 

Figure A-1 

Major Features of the School-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

 

 

 School Wide 

Statements 

Fund Financial Statements 

  Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds Fiduciary Funds 

Scope Entire School (except 

fiduciary funds) 

The activities of the 

school that are not 

Proprietary or 
Fiduciary.  The 

governmental activities 

include general, capital 
projects and student 

activities. 

Activities the school 

that operate similar to 

private businesses: 
 

Enterprise Fund 

(food service) 

Instances in which the 

school administers 

resources on behalf of 
someone else 

Required financial 
statements 

 Statement of 
net position 

 Statement of 
activities 

 Balance 
Sheet 

 Statement of 
revenue, 

expenditures 

and changes 
in fund 

balances 

 Statement of 
net position 

 Statement of 
revenue, 

expenses, 

and 
changes is 

fund net 

position 

 Statement of 

cash flows 

 Statement of 
Fiduciary 

net position 

 Statement of 

changes in 

fiduciary 
net position 

Accounting Basis and 

Measurement focus 

Accrual accounting 

and economic 

resources focus 

Modified accrual 

accounting and current 

financial focus 

Accrual accounting 

and economic 

resources focus 

Accrual accounting 

and economic 

resources focus 

Type of asset/liability 
information 

All assets and 
liabilities, both 

financial and capital, 

short-term and long-
term 

Generally assets 
expected to be used up 

and liabilities that come 

due during the year or 
soon thereafter, no 

capital assets of long-

term liabilities included 

All assets and 
liabilities, both 

financial and capital, 

and short-term and 
long-term 

All assets and 
liabilities, both short-

term and long-term; 

funds do not currently 
contain capital assets, 

although they can 

Type of inflow/outflow 

information 

All revenues and 

expenses during the 

year, regardless of 
when the cash is 

received or paid 

Revenues for which 

cash is received during 

or soon after the end of 
the year; expenditures 

when goods or services 

have been received and 
the related liability is 

due and payable. 

All revenues and 

expenses during the 

year, regardless of 
when cash is received 

or paid. 

All additional and 

dedications during the 

year, regardless of 
when cash is received 

or paid. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL AS A WHOLE 

 

Net position.  The School’s combined net position was ($1,717,630) on June 30, 2021.  (See 

Table A-2.) 

Table A-2 

Sugar Valley Rural Charter School 

Net position 

As of June 30, 2020 and 2021 

          2020  2021         

  

 Current Assets ................................................................... 7,924,404 5,963,683 

 Capital Assets .................................................................... 2,334,946 6,506,610 

  

 Total Assets ..................................................................... 10,259,350 12,470,293 

 

 Deferred Outflows of Resources ...................................... 2,994,214 3,091,499 

 

 Current Liabilities ................................................................ 625,196 712,875 

 Accrued Salaries and Benefits .............................................  489,136 493,379 

 Net Pension Liability ....................................................... 11,930,000 12,851,000 

 Other Post Employment Liabilities………………… ........... 1,264,248 1,529,846 

 Long-term Debt ............................................................................... 0 1,320,467 

 Total Liabilities ............................................................... 14,308,580 16,907,567 

 

 Deferred Inflows of Resources ............................................ 501,107 371,855 

 Restricted Student funds .................................................................. 0 65,761 

 Restricted by Creditors .................................................................... 0 1,000,000 

 Invested in Capital Assets Net of Related Debt  ................ 2,334,946 5,186,143 

 Unrestricted (deficit) ......................................................  (3,891,069) (7,969,534) 

 

 Total Net position (deficit) .............................................. (1,556,123) (1,717,630)  

 

 

 

The Sugar Valley Rural Charter School continues to exhibit a healthy financial picture due to stable 

enrollment and careful planning and spending. Increases in capital assets include 4,253,166 

representing construction in progress for a gymnasium.  This project was financed from use of 

accumulated cash, as well as financing through long term debt.  
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Changes in Net position. Total revenues were less than expenses, decreasing net position 

$212,019 (See Table A-3).   

Table A-3 

Sugar Valley Rural Charter School 

Change in Net position 

For the year ended June 30, 2020 and 2021  

                                    2020       2021 

 Revenues 

 Program Revenues 

 Charges for services/operating grants and contributions-governmental activities  

  ................................................................................................. 8,962,172 9,094,498 

 Charges for services/operating grants and contributions-food service activities  

  .................................................................................................... 230,828 294,994 

 General Revenues 

 Investment Earnings ................................................................... 147,999 102,256 

 Misc. Income .................................................................................. 5,981 38,306 

 Other General Revenues ................................................................ 9,462 0 

 Gain/(loss) on sale of fixed assets ......................................................... 0 (1,200) 

 

 Total ........................................................................................ 9,356,442 9,528,854 

  

 Expenses 

 Instruction ............................................................................... 5,433,519 5,688,964 

 Instruction Student Support ........................................................ 501,670 669,560 

 Administrative and Financial Support Services ...................... 1,011,166 970,245 

 Operation and Maintenance of Plant Services ........................... 953,613 964,324 

 Pupil Transportation .................................................................... 68,956 64,726 

 Student Activities ........................................................................ 142,598 115,738 

 Facilities Acquisition Services ..................................................... 23,307 0 

 Communities Services ................................................................... 62,216 0 

 Depreciation ............................................................................... 214,346 202,452 

 Food Service ............................................................................... 334,013 344,528 

 Health Services ........................................................................... 248,082 282,236 

 Central Services ......................................................................... 428,050 435,312 

 Interest Expense .................................................................................... 0 2,788 

 Total ........................................................................................ 9,421,536 9,740,873 

 

 Transfers 

 From Governmental activities ..................................................... (19,313) 0 

 Into Business type activities for support of food services ............. 19,313 0  

 

 Net Transfers ........................................................................................ 0 0 

 

 Change in net position ................................................................ (65,094) (212,019) 

 Prior Period Adjustment ....................................................................... 0 50,512 

 Ending of year net position ................................................... (1,556,123) (1,717,630) 
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The School’s total revenues were $9,528,854 for the year ended June 30, 2021.  Tuition 

from the student’s home school district accounted for most of the revenue, the remainder 

came from federal and state programs and interest on investments. 

 

 The federal and state governments subsidized certain programs with grants and 

contributions.  Federal contributions were $670,982 and state contributions were $40,879. 

 We received $8,816,993 from local sources (mostly tuition from the home school districts).  

 

 

The total cost of all programs and services was $9,740,873.  The School’s expenses are 

predominantly related to educating and caring for students. 

 

 The cost of all governmental activities this year was $9,396,345. The cost for business like 

activities was $344,528. 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL’S FUNDS 

 

Governmental Funds 

 

The financial performance of the School is also reflected in its governmental fund. As the School 

completed the year, its governmental funds reported a fund balance of $4,659,390.  The general 

fund has a fund balance of $4,798,058, the student activities fund balance is $65,761, and the capital 

project fund balance is ($204,429).  The committed balance represents $2,000,000 for Capital 

Acquisitions, $501,473 for summer payroll and benefits, and $1,000,000 for summer operating 

expenses. Restricted funds are $1,000,000 for Mortgage retainer (this is restricted by the bank for 

our Gym Project) and $65,761 for student activities. The SVRCS Board uncommitted the remaining 

funds for Summer Payroll, Summer Operating expenses, and Capital Acquisitions on 12/14/21. 

   

Sugar Valley Rural Charter School has established a fund balance for the purpose of unanticipated 

expenditures as well as large startup costs of a new school year, improvements based on student 

needs, for the raising of academic standards and the development of unique educational 

opportunities for the good of the greater SVRCS community.  Funds may be allocated to such areas 

as curriculum, personnel costs and professional development, capital improvements, cyclical 

maintenance, and the enhancement of community participation at the SVRCS. 

 

Revenues for the School’s governmental funds was $9,196,740 ($9,100,185 in 2020) while total 

expenses were $12,665,476 ($8,488,732 in 2020).  Most of the difference in expenses is related to 

our Gym Project.  In the governmental funds, revenues that are measurable but not available within 

60 days of year end, are recorded as deferred inflows. 

 

Total governmental funds revenues increased by $96,555 from the previous year. Tuition is based 

on average money spent per student in the Home School District. There was an increase in tuition 

rates in 2020-2021.  We had a small decrease in number of students in 2020-2021 compared to 

2019-2020 
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Total governmental funds expenditures increased by $ 4,176,744 from the previous year. This 

increase is primarily due to facility construction of new gymnasium. The General Fund transferred 

$2,728,270 to the capital project from the fund balance and $1,320,467 were advances of 

construction loan for the gymnasium construction. 

  

In fiscal ending June 30, 2021 salaries increased a minimum of 2% of the base pay for staff retained 

from the previous year. The School continues to look at various cost containment measures to 

minimize the effect rising health insurance premiums have on the costs of the school’s employee 

compensation packages.   

 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

 

As a charter school, we need to prepare our budget months before the sending school district is 

required to complete their updated tuition rates, therefore the best estimate of the tuition from the 

sending school district is to use the current year’s information.  Generally there is an increase in 

tuition rates from one school year to the next. 

 

There were transfers from the general fund to the capital projects fund for the expenses for the 

gymnasium construction. The general fund transferred $2,728,270 to the capital project fund from 

the fund balance.   

 

 Actual revenues were $365,983 more than expected.  

 The actual expenditures were $370,140 less than budget.  

 

 

Proprietary Fund 

 

Proprietary funds are established in the School to account for goods and services provided to the 

student body and staff.  The food service fund is the enterprise fund of the school.  The prices 

charged by the cafeteria may not materially exceed its expenditures. In 2020-2021, the food service 

fund expenses exceeded revenues by $49,534. At June 30, 2021 the food service fund had an 

accumulated deficit of ($261,039) and net investment in fixed assets of $46,350, for total Net 

Position deficit of ($214,689).  

 

 

Capital Assets, Construction Commitments, and Long Term Debt 

 

By the end of 2020-2021 the School had invested $3,135,751 in a broad range of capital assets, 

including computer and audio-visual equipment, site and building improvement, playground 

equipment, furniture and equipment for the students and staff. The school also had $4,936,146 in 

assets not being depreciated (Land and Assets not yet placed is service).  Total depreciation expense 

for the year was $211,379. Accumulated Depreciation at June 30, 2021 was $1,565,287.  

The school has about $2,800,000 more to spend to complete the Gym project as of June 30, 2021.  

As of June 30, 2021, we have $3,679,532 remaining on our bank construction loan.   
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FACTORS BEARING ON THE SCHOOL’S FUTURE 

 

Our future funding is dependent on student tuition from school districts and from grant awards.  

Our enrollment rate has remained stable over the last several years. If we see a decline, we will 

adjust our spending to reflect changes in revenues. We continue to investigate grant opportunities.  

We are committed to providing a rewarding working environment for our employees while 

supplying our students with an effective learning experience.  

 

The School has put into place enrollment caps by grade level and a lottery system for those 

grades that are at capacity.  We currently have no openings, if a student leaves, we replace with a 

student from our waiting list. 

 

The School has begun a construction project to build a gymnasium.  We expect it to be completed 

by winter of 2021-22.  This will enhance the school’s ability to provide a fulfilling learning 

environment. 

 

In September 2021, the school purchased the original school property that the school leased from 

SVCC.  The purchase price was 2,344,770, an initial payment of $1,066,000 was made. The 

remaining balance of $1,278,770 plus 3% interest is to be paid in variable installments over 105 

months. 

 

CONTACTING THE SCHOOL’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customer, and investors and 

creditors with a general overview of the School’s finances and to demonstrate the School’s 

accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional 

financial information contact the Business Office, Sugar Valley Rural Charter School, 236 East 

Main Street, Loganton, PA  17747. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BASIC 
FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Elimination of
Governmental Business-Type Internal

Activities Activities Balances Total
ASSETS
Current Assets:
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,637,314  30,795  -  4,668,109  
 Cash and Cash Equivalents - restricted 1,065,761  -  -  1,065,761  
 Internal Balances 7,326  -  (7,326)  -  
 Due from Other Governments 26,749  -  -  26,749  
 State Revenue Receivable -  373  373  
 Federal Revenue Receivable 145,330  8,904  -  154,234  
 Inventories -  4,036  -  4,036  
 Other Current Assets 44,275  146  -  44,421  

 Total Current Assets 5,926,755  44,254  (7,326)  5,963,683  

Noncurrent Assets:
 Assets Not Yet Placed in Service       4,655,789 -  -      4,655,789
 Land 280,357  -  -  280,357  
 Buildings and Improvements (net of accumulated depreciation) 982,045  -  -  982,045  
 Site Improvements (net of accumulated depreciation) 20,226  -  -  20,226  
 Leasehold Improvements (net of accumulated depreciation) 195,626  -  -  195,626  
 Furniture and Equipment (net of accumulated depreciation) 238,456  46,350  -  284,806  
 Vehicles (net of accumulated depreciation)         87,761 -  -       87,761

 Total Noncurrent Assets 6,460,260  46,350  -  6,506,610  
 Total Assets 12,387,015  90,604  (7,326)  12,470,293  

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
 Related to Pension Benefits 2,681,318            65,163                 -  2,746,481  
 Related to Other Post Employment Benefits 336,642               8,376                   -  345,018  

 TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 3,017,960            73,539                 -  3,091,499  

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
 Accounts Payable 248,668  -  -  248,668  
 Accrued Salaries and Benefits 493,379  -  -  493,379  
 Payroll Withholding and Benefits 400,733  -  -  400,733  
 Internal Balances -  7,326  (7,326)  -  
 Unearned Revenue 14,849  3,618  -  18,467  
 Other Current Liabilities 39,826  5,181  -  45,007  

 Total Current Liabilities 1,197,455  16,125  (7,326)  1,206,254  

Noncurrent Liabilities:
 Construction Loan Payable 1,320,467  -  -  1,320,467  
 Net Pension Liability 12,536,922  314,078  -  12,851,000  
 Net Liability for Other Post Employment Benefits 1,490,303  39,543  -  1,529,846  

 Total Noncurrent Liabilities 15,347,692  353,621  -  15,701,313  
 Total Liabilities 16,545,147  369,746  (7,326)  16,907,567  

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
 Related to Pension Benefits 300,472  7,528  -  308,000  
 Related to Other Post Employment Benefits 62,297  1,558  -  63,855  

 Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 362,769  9,086  -  371,855  

NET POSITION
 Investment in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 5,139,793  46,350  -  5,186,143  
 Restricted for Student Activities 65,761  -  -  65,761  
 Restricted by Creditors - Assignment of Deposit Account 1,000,000  -  1,000,000  
 Unrestricted deficit (7,708,495)  (261,039)  -  (7,969,534)  

 Total Net Position (1,502,941)  (214,689)  -  (1,717,630)  
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EXHIBIT A
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Governmental Activities:
  Depreciation - Unallocated 202,452      -                    -                     (202,452)           -                        (202,452)      
  Instruction 5,688,964   -                    5,629,267        -                     (59,697)             -                        (59,697)        
  Support Services
     Student and Instructional Staff Support 669,560      -                    662,027           -                     (7,533)               -                        (7,533)          
     Health Services 282,236      -                    279,217           -                     (3,019)               -                        (3,019)          
     Administration and Business Services 970,245      -                    959,017           -                     (11,228)             -                        (11,228)        
     Operation and Maintenance of Plant 964,324      -                    953,325           -                     (10,999)             -                        (10,999)        
     Pupil Transportation 64,726        -                    63,977             -                     (749)                  -                        (749)             
     Central Services 435,312      -                    430,274           -                     (5,038)               -                        (5,038)          
   Non-Instructional Services
     Student Activities 115,738      550               114,088           -                     (1,100)               -                        (1,100)          
Interest Expense 2,788          2,756               (32)                    -                        (32)               

     Total Governmental Activities 9,396,345   550               9,093,948        -                     (301,847)           -                        (301,847)      

Business-Type Activities:
  Food Services 344,528      27,370          267,624           -                     -                        (49,534)             (49,534)        

     Total 9,740,873   27,920          9,361,572        -                     (301,847)           (49,534)             (351,381)      

  Loss on Disposal of Assets (1,200)               -                        (1,200)          
102,256            -                        102,256       

38,306              -                        38,306         
139,362            -                        139,362       

(162,485)           (49,534)             (212,019)      

(1,390,968)        (165,155)           (1,556,123)   
Restatement of Beginning Net Position 50,512              -                        50,512         
Net Position - Beginning -  as restated (1,340,456)        (165,155)           (1,505,611)   

(1,502,941)        (214,689)           (1,717,630)   

SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL
EXHIBIT B

Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue
and Changes in Net Assets

General Revenues:

  Investment Earnings
  Miscellaneous Income/(Loss)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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     Total General Revenues

Net Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning

Net Position - Ending



EXHIBIT C

Student Capital Total
General Activities Projects Governmental

Fund Fund Fund #39 Funds
ASSETS
  Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,637,314        -                    4,637,314                
  Cash and Cash Equivalents - restricted 1,000,000        65,761          -                    1,065,761                
  Due from Other Governments 26,749             -                    -                    26,749                     
  State Revenue Receivable -                       -                    -                    -                               
  Federal Revenue Receivable 145,330           -                    -                    145,330                   
  Due from Other Funds 7,326               -                    -                    7,326                       

          TOTAL ASSETS 5,816,719        65,761          -                    5,882,480                

LIABILITIES
  Accounts Payable 44,239             -                    204,429        248,668                   
  Accrued Salaries and Benefits 493,379           -                    -                    493,379                   
  Employee Withholdings and Benefits Payable 400,733           -                    -                    400,733                   
  Unearned Revenues 14,849             -                    -                    14,849                     
  Other Current Liabilities 39,826             -                    -                    39,826                     

          TOTAL LIABILITIES 993,026           -                    204,429        1,197,455                

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
  Revenues That Are Measurable But Not Available 25,635             -                    -                    25,635                     

          TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS 
                         OF RESOURCES 25,635             -                    -                    25,635                     

FUND BALANCES
  Restricted by Creditors - Assignment of Deposit Account 1,000,000        -                    -                    1,000,000                
  Restricted  for Student Activities -                       65,761          -                    65,761                     
  Committed 3,501,473        -                    -                    3,501,473                
  Unassigned 296,585           -                    (204,429)       92,156                     

          TOTAL FUND BALANCES 4,798,058        65,761          (204,429)       4,659,390                

       TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
         RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES 5,816,719        65,761          -                    5,882,480                
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Sugar Valley Rural Charter School

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 4,659,390      

Prepayments of expenses are recognized as expenses in the governmental funds 44,275           
but are recognized as assets in the full accrual statement of net position

Amounts that are received after the period of availability (60 days) are not recognized as 25,635           
revenue in the governmental fund statements, but are recognized as revenue in the full
accrual statement of net position

Net capital assets are not recorded in the governmental fund  statements but are 6,460,260      
recorded in the full accrual statement of net position

Long-term liabilities that are not due and payable in the current period are not 
reported as liabilities in the governmental fund statements
Long-term liabilities at year end consist of:
   Construction Loan Payable (1,320,467)     
  Net Liability for Pension Benefits (12,536,922)   
  Net Liability for Other Post Employment Benefits (1,490,303)     

Deferred Outflows of Resources are not recorded in the governmental fund statements
  Related to Pension Benefits 2,681,318      
  Related to Other Post Employment Benefits 336,642         

Deferred Inflows of Resources are not recorded in the governmental fund statements
  Related to Pension Benefits (300,472)        
  Related to Other Post Employment Benefits (62,297)          

Total Net Position - Governmental Activities (1,502,941)     
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to the Statement of Net Position

EXHIBIT D
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



EXHIBIT E

Student Capital Total
General Activities Projects Governmental

Fund Fund Fund #39 Funds
REVENUES
  Local Sources 8,730,168        21,669          -                    8,751,837                
  State Sources 31,512             -                    -                    31,512                     
  Federal Sources 413,391           -                    -                    413,391                   

          TOTAL REVENUES 9,175,071        21,669          -                    9,196,740                

EXPENDITURES
     Instruction 5,077,020        -                    -                    5,077,020                
     Support Services 3,226,696        -                    -                    3,226,696                
     Non-Instructional Services 91,223             14,583          -                    105,806                   
     Facility  Acquisition, Construction, and Improvement -                       -                    4,253,166     4,253,166                
     Debt Service Construction Loan 2,788               -                    -                    2,788                       

          TOTAL EXPENDITURES 8,397,727        14,583          4,253,166     12,665,476              

          EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
           OVER EXPENDITURES 777,344           7,086            (4,253,166)    (3,468,736)               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
   Advances Under Construction Loan -                       -                    1,320,467     1,320,467                
  Transfers Between Governmental Funds (2,728,270)       -                    2,728,270     -                               
  Other Financing Sources  36,206             -                    -                    36,206                     

         TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) (2,692,064)       -                    4,048,737     1,356,673                

         NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (1,914,720)       7,086            (204,429)       (2,112,063)               

         FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 6,720,941        -                    -                    6,720,941                

         Restatement of Beginning Fund Balance (8,163)              58,675          -                    50,512                     

         FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING - as restated 6,712,778        58,675          -                    6,771,453                

         FUND BALANCE - ENDING 4,798,058        65,761          (204,429)       4,659,390                
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Sugar Valley Rural Charter School

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances



Net Change In Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (2,112,063)   

Amounts that are expensed in the fund statements that represent prepayments are 19,341         
recorded on the full accrual basis in the statements of net position and activities.
This reconciling item represents a increase in prepaid expense, as compared to the prior  year.

Amounts that are received after the period of availability (60 days) are not recognized as 2,114           
revenue in the governmental fund statements, but are recognized as revenue in the full
accrual statement of net position. This is the amount by which such amounts 
increased, as compared to the prior year.

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures. In the Statement 4,180,591    
of Activities, the costs of those assets are allocated over estimated useful lives as 
depreciation. This is the amount by which  capital outlays exceeded depreciation and the
net book value of assets disposed of during the year.

Long-term liabilities that are not due and payable in the current period are not reported
as liabilities in the governmental fund statements. These reconciling items represent
the increase in these accounts as compared to the prior year.
  Construction Loan Payable (1,320,467)   
  Net  Pension Liability (898,014)      
  Net Liability for Other Post Employment Benefits (256,903)      

Deferred Outflows of Resources are not recorded in the governmental fund statements.
These reconciling items represent the increase/(decrease) in these accounts as compared to the
prior year.
  Related to Pension Benefits (31,014)        
  Related to Other Post Employment Benefits 127,819       

Deferred Inflows of Resources are not recorded in the governmental fund statements.
These reconciling items represent the increase in these accounts as compared to the
year.
  Related to Pension Benefits 119,036       
  Related to Other Post Employment Benefits 7,075           

Change In Net Position of Governmental Activities (162,485)      
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to the Statement of Activities

EXHIBIT F
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance



Food
Service 

Fund
ASSETS
  Cash and Cash Equivalents 30,795         
  State Receivables 373              
  Federal Receivables 8,904           
  Inventories 4,036           
  Prepaid Expenses 146              

          Total Current Assets 44,254         

Noncurrent Assets:
  Furniture and Equipment (Net of Accumulated Depreciation) 46,350         

          Total Noncurrent Assets 46,350         

          Total Assets 90,604         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
  Related to Pension Benefits 65,163         
  Related to Other Post Employment Benefits 8,376           

          Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 73,539         

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
  Due to Other Funds 7,326           
  Unearned Revenue 3,618           
  Other Current Liabilities 5,181           

          Total Current Liabilities 16,125         

Noncurrent Liabilities:
  Net Pension Liability 314,078       
  Net Liability for Other Post Employment Benefits 39,543         

          Total Noncurrent Liabilities 353,621       

          Total Liabilities 369,746       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
  Related to Pension Benefits 7,528           
  Related to Other Post Employment Benefits 1,558           

          Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 9,086           

NET POSITION
  Investment in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 46,350         
  Unrestricted (261,039)      

          Total Net Position (214,689)      
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June 30, 2021

EXHIBIT G
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Statement of Net Position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Proprietary Fund



Food
Service 

Fund
OPERATING REVENUES
  Food Service Revenue 27,370         

     Total Operating Revenues 27,370         

OPERATING EXPENSES
  Salaries 95,181         
  Employee Benefits 102,548       
  Purchased Professional  Services 900              
  Purchased Property Services 6,237           
  Supplies 130,735       
  Depreciation 8,927           

     Total Operating Expenses 344,528       

     Operating Loss (317,158)      

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
  Interest Income 666              
  State Sources 9,367           
  Federal Sources 257,591       
  
     Total Non-Operating Revenues 267,624       

     Loss Before Contributions and Transfers (49,534)        

CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS
  Transfer In - from General Fund -                   

     Change in Net Position (49,534)        

Net Position - Beginning (165,155)      

Net Position - Ending (214,689)      
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Proprietary Fund

EXHIBIT H
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position

For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Food
Service
Fund

CASH FLOWS  PROVIDED/(USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Cash Received from Users 28,431         
   Cash Payments for Employee Services and Benefits (70,049)        
   Cash Payments for Goods and Services (195,948)      

  Net Cash (Used)  by Operating Activities (237,566)      

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
   State Subsidies 8,998           
   Federal Subsidies 218,018       

  Net Cash Provided By Non-Capital Financing Activities 227,016       

CASH FLOWS (USED) BY CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING  
 ACTIVITIES -                   

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES
   Investment Earnings 666              

  Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (9,884)          

  Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 40,679         

  Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending 30,795         

Non-Cash Non-Capital Financing Activities
   Revenue Representing Donated Commodities 30,665         
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Proprietary Fund

EXHIBIT I, page 1 of 2
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Food
Service
Fund

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities

Operating Loss (317,158)      

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss to Net Cash
 Provided By Operating Activities

  Depreciation 8,927           
  Non-Cash Value of Commodities Used 30,665         
  (Increase)/Decrease in Purchased Inventories 6,441           
  Increase/(Decrease) in Interfund Payables 4,438           
  Increase/(Decrease) in Accounts Payable -                   
  Increase/(Decrease) in Refundable Advanced Sales 1,061           
  Increase/(Decrease) in Net Pension/OPEB Liabilities
             and Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources 28,060         

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities (237,566)      
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Proprietary Fund

EXHIBIT I, page 2 of 2
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Private
Purpose 

Trust
ASSETS
  Cash and Cash Equivalents  -                 
  Accounts Receivable 282            

     Total Assets 282            

LIABILITIES
-                 

     Total Liabilities -                 

NET POSITION
  Restricted 282            

     Total Net Position 282            
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Fiduciary Funds

EXHIBIT J
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Private
Purpose

Trust
ADDITIONS
 Gifts and Contributions -                   

DEDUCTIONS
  Scholarships and Awards Presented 100              

  Change in Net Position (100)             

Net Position - Beginning 382              

Net Position - Ending 282              
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Fiduciary Funds

EXHIBIT K
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Statement of Changes in Net Position

For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



 

 

 
 

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
NOTE 1       SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The Sugar Valley Rural Charter School (the School), located in Loganton, Clinton County, Pennsylvania, 
was formed in accordance with Act 22 of 1997. Act 22 permits local citizens to conceive, implement, and operate 
public schools that are independent of local school boards. The School’s original charter was approved on De-
cember 14, 1999 and was renewed for each of the five year periods beginning July 1, 2005, 2010, 2015 and 2020. 

 
A. Use of Governmental Accounting Standards, Adoption of New Standards, Use of Capital Projects 

Fund  
 

Although the School is a non-profit organization, the School operates under current standards pre-
scribed by the Pennsylvania Department of Education. That Department requires that the School’s financial 
statements be prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles as applied to gov-
ernmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the authoritative standard-
setting body for the establishment of governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The GASB 
has issued a codification of governmental accounting and financial reporting standards.  This codification is 
recognized as U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for state and local governments.  

 
In May 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 95 – Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Au-

thoritative Guidance. This Statement’s objective is to provide temporary relief to governments in light of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Under this guidance, the School elected to postpone implementation of GASB State-
ment No 84 – Fiduciary Activities until this fiscal year, beginning July 1, 2020. This implementation required 
restatement of the beginning fund balance of the governmental  funds and restatement of the beginning bal-
ance of net position of governmental activities, as discussed at Note 13. The School also implemented 
GASB Statement No 88 - Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct 
Placements. 

 

In 2020-2021, the School also implemented use of a Capital Projects fund to account for construction 
of a gymnasium. Use of a Capital Project fund is In accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples for state and local governments 

 
The School is not required to implement GASB Statement No. 87 – Leases until July 1, 2021. Howev-

er, the School’s only existing long-term lease, as of that date, was effectively terminated as of July 15, 2021. 
The School is evaluating how this termination will impact their implementation of GASB Statement No. 87. 

 
B.  Reporting Entity 

 
    The reporting entity has been defined in accordance with requirements of the Governmental Account-

ing Standards Board (GASB). The GASB criteria for evaluating whether other entities should be included as 
component units in the School’s financial statements include legal status, financial accountability, fiscal de-
pendency, and nature and significance of the relationship with the School. School management identified no 
other entities that should be included as component units given these criteria. 
 

C.  Basis of Presentation 
 

The School’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a state-
ment of net position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more de-
tailed level of financial information. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements   The statement of net position and the statement of activities 
display information about the School as a whole.  These statements include all the financial activities of the 
School, except for fiduciary funds.  The statements distinguish between those activities of the School that 
are governmental and those that are considered business-type activities. 

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type 
activities of the School at year-end.  The statement of activities presents a comparison between functional 
expenses and program revenues for each function of the School’s activities. The comparison of direct ex-
penses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental function or business seg-
ment is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the School. 

 Functional expenses represent direct expenses that are specifically associated with a function. The 
School has no indirect expenses to allocate between functions. Program revenues include tuition from 
neighboring districts for enrolled students.  This revenue is allocated proportionally to functional expenses in 
the government-wide financial statements.  Program revenue also includes substantially all grant revenues. 
These grant revenues are presented also allocated to the function or functions that each grant supports.  

Revenues which are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the 
School.   

 
 

 
25 



 

 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PAGE 2 
 
NOTE 1       SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Fund Financial Statements   During the year, the School segregates transactions related to certain School 
functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal com-
pliance.  Fund financial statements are designed to present financial information of the School at this more 
detailed level. The focus of governmental and enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds.  Each 
major fund is presented in a separate column.   

 
D. Fund Accounting 

 
The School uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year.  A fund is defined as a fiscal 

and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.  There are three categories of funds: govern-
mental, proprietary and fiduciary. 
 
Governmental Funds   Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically 
are financed.  Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial 
resources.  Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purposes 
for which they may or must be used.  Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid.  
The difference between governmental fund assets plus deferred outflows and liabilities plus deferred inflows 
is reported as fund balance. The School’s governmental funds are – 
 

General Fund   The general fund is the operating fund of the School and is used to account for all 
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. The general fund is a 
major fund. 
 
Capital Project Fund Type 39  The capital project fund accounts for financial resources that are 
restricted, committed or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays. The capital project fund was 
created in this fiscal year to record expenses for construction of a gymnasium. The construction is 
funded by transfers into the capital project fund from the general fund and by proceeds drawn on a 
construction loan. The project is anticipated to be completed in the fall of 2021.The capital project 
fund is a major fund. 
 
Student Activities Special Revenue Fund   The Student Activities fund is established with Sec-
tion 511 of the PA School Code for student sponsored school organizations and publications which 
do not meet the criteria to be reported as custodial funds per GASB Statement 84. Resources are 
restricted to expenditures for the sponsored organizations and publications. The Student Activities 
Special Revenue fund is a non-major fund. 
 

 Proprietary Funds   Proprietary funds focus on the determination of changes in net position, financial posi-
tion and cash flows and are classified as either enterprise or internal service funds.  
 

Enterprise Funds   Enterprise funds may be used to account for any activity for which a fee is 
charged to external users for goods or services.  The School’s major, and only, enterprise fund is – 
 

Food Service Fund   This fund accounts for the financial transactions related to the food 
service operations of the School. The food service provides meals and snacks to students 
and staff. They can also provide food service for other events under School sponsorship. 
 

Fiduciary Funds   Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position.  The School 
has one fiduciary fund – a private-purpose trust fund. The private-purpose trust fund is held by the School to 
provide an award to graduating students and is, therefore, not available to support the School’s own pro-
grams.   

 
E. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting   

 
Economic Resources Measurement Focus and Accrual Basis of Accounting   The government-wide fi-
nancial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of ac-
counting, as are the proprietary fund and the fiduciary fund financial statements. 
In the accrual basis of accounting, revenues resulting from exchange transactions are recognized when the 
exchange takes place. Revenues from non-exchange transactions are recognized as follows: 

 
 Revenue from a student’s resident District is recognized in the period in which the student attends the 

School.  
 Grants which are expenditure-driven are recognized as revenue when the specified reimbursable ex-

pense is incurred, provided any other eligibility criteria have also been met. Any amounts that have 
been received, but not expended by year end, are recorded as unearned revenues. 
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NOTE 1       SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
 Grants which are not expenditure-driven are recognized as revenue when the applicable recognition cri-

teria have been met. Any amounts that remain unused at year end are recorded as restricted fund net 
assets. 

 
Expenditures are recognized when liabilities are incurred. 

 
Current Financial Resources Measurement Focus and Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting   The 
governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement fo-
cus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. In the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are 
recognized as outlined above, but with the added criteria that revenues should only be recognized when 
both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period.  
 

The School has defined that revenues are “available” if received within 60 days of year end. How-
ever, the School has noted that revenues from expenditure-driven grants are generally available for collec-
tion soon after the related expenditures are incurred. As a matter of practicality and consistency, the School 
has decided to consider all such expenditure-driven grant revenue as available when the related expenditure 
has been incurred, provided any other eligibility criteria have also been met.  
 

Revenues that are measurable, but do not meet the definition of “available” are recorded as de-
ferred inflows of resources. 
 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.   
 

F. Classification and Uses  of Net Position and of Fund Balances 
 

Net Position   In the Government-wide financial statements, and in the Proprietary fund state-
ments, net position may be classified as 

 
 Restricted – This classification includes amounts when constraints on the uses of resources 

are imposed by external entities (grantors, contributors, creditors) or by law. 
 Investment in Capital Assets – This classification represents the School’s investment in fixed 

assets, net of related accumulated depreciation. If there is outstanding debt related to the ac-
quisition of these assets, the amount presented is also net of that debt. 

 Unrestricted- This classification represents any remaining positive or deficit net position. 

The School’s policy is to first apply restricted resources, rather than unrestricted resources, when 
an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position, are available.  

 
Fund Balance    In Governmental Fund statements, fund balance may be classified as 
 
 Unspendable – This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are ei-

ther not in spendable form (inventories, prepayments, etc.) or are legally required to be main-
tained intact. 

 Restricted – This classification includes amounts when constraints on the uses of resources 
are imposed by external entities (grantors, contributors, creditors) or by law. 

 Committed – This classification includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes 
pursuant to constraints imposed by actions of the Board, which holds the highest level of deci-
sion making authority. Committed fund balances are created by action of the Board. Commit-
ments can also be removed by action of the Board. At June 30, the School had committed fund 
balance for new construction of $2,000,000, summer payroll costs of $ 501,473, and summer 
operating costs of $1,000,000.  

 Assigned – This classification includes amounts that are constrained by the School’s intent to 

be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. Intent can be ex-
pressed by a committee or individual who has been granted authority to assign funds by the 
Board. The Finance committee has been granted authority to assign fund balance. 

  Unassigned – Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund. 

The School’s policy is to first apply restricted resources, rather than committed, assigned or unas-
signed fund balance when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and committed, as-
signed or unassigned fund balances are available.  
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NOTE 1       SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
In regard to use of committed, assigned and unassigned fund balance amounts, the School con-

siders that committed amounts would be reduced first, followed by assigned amounts and then by unas-
signed amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of these unrestricted 
fund balance classifications could be used.  

 
G. Interfund Activity    

 
The General Fund makes certain payments on behalf of the Food Service Fund and the Food Ser-

vice Fund periodically reimburses the General Fund. This practice may give rise to amounts outstanding at 
year end which are referred to as “dueto/due from” other funds in the fund statements. In the government-
wide financial statements, balances outstanding between governmental activities and business-type activi-
ties are reported as “internal balances”, and are eliminated in the government-wide total. 

 
I. Inventories 

 
 The School inventory consists of Food Service Fund food and supplies. The purchased inventory is 
valued at cost. Donated inventory received through the Pennsylvania Department of Agriculture is valued at 
rates provided by that Department. These values are representative of market values. FIFO (first-in, first-out) 
methods are applied to inventory valuation. 
 

J. Prepaid Expenses    
 
 Prepaid expenses represent insurance contract and software subscriptions that cover periods 
spanning the School’s June 30 year end.  

In the government-wide statements, and in the proprietary fund statements, prepaid expenses are 
recorded as assets in the specific activity or fund in which future benefits will be derived. In the governmen-
tal fund statements pre-payments are not allocated between and among accounting periods. Rather, they 
are accounted for as expenditures in the period of acquisition.   
 

K.  Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, and equipment, are reported in the applicable gov-
ernmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements.  Capital assets 
are defined by the School as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $1,000 and an estimated 
useful life in excess of one year.  The school also capitalizes all stationary computers and networking 
equipment.  

 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset, change the 

assets functionality, or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. 
 

All capital assets reported as used in governmental activities are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the following estimated useful lives – 
 
 

Assets Years
Buildings and Improvements 7-30
Site Imrpovements 7-20
Leasehold Improvements 5-20
Furniture and Equipment 5-15
Vehicles 5-8  

 
Proprietary funds equipment purchases are capitalized in the proprietary fund at cost and depreci-

ated on a straight-line basis over 5-15 years. 
 

L. Long-term Obligations 
 

Long-term debt obligations, as well as pension and other postemployment benefit obligations are re-
ported as liabilities in the applicable governmental and business-type activities columns of the government-
wide financial statements, and in the proprietary fund statements.  In addition, the government-wide financial 
statements, and proprietary fund types, also include recognition of deferred outflows and inflows associated 
with these long-term obligations. 
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NOTE 1       SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
M. Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclo-
sures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 
N. Definition of Operating Income 

 
The School’s only proprietary fund is its food service fund. Subsidies are received from federal and 

state sources for breakfasts and lunches that are available to all students. Students may purchase additional 
items that are not included in the defined meals.  Meals may also be purchased by staff. 

 The School defines amounts received from federal and state sources as non-operating income. 
Revenues received from individuals or for school functions are defined as operating revenue.  
 

O. Statement of Cash Flows 
 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the School considers highly liquid financial instruments 
with an original maturity from the time of acquisition by the School of three months or less to be cash equiva-
lents. 

 
P. Income Taxes 

 
The School is exempt from federal income taxes under Code Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Reve-

nue Code. In addition, the School qualifies for charitable deductions under Internal Revenue Code Section 
170(b) (1) (A) and is not a private foundation. Federal filings for 2018 and forward are open to examination. 

 
 

NOTE 2       CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS   
 

The School is permitted to deposit and invest its money in accordance with Section 440.1 of the Public 
School Code of 1949, as amended, and in accordance with Act 10 of March 25, 2016. 

 
The deposit and investment policy of the School adheres to state statutes and prudent business practices.  
 
All financial assets of the School were bank deposits in the year 2020-21. 
 

Deposits with Banks 
 
GASB standards require that the School disclose information about risks associated with its deposits. De-

posits with financial institutions are exposed to the following risk – 
 
Custodial Credit Risk  
 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a depository bank failure, the School’s deposits might not 
be recovered.  The School’s policy is to mitigate this risk by requiring each depository to furnish proper security for 
deposits in accordance with law. As of June 30, 2021, the carrying amount of the School’s deposits was               
$ 5,733,870, and the bank balance was $ 5,760,790. Of the bank balance, $250,000 was covered by federal de-
pository insurance. The remaining bank balance of $ 5,510,790 was exposed to custodial credit risk as these de-
posits were not covered by depository insurance. To mitigate this risk, the depository bank has pledged securities 
in accordance with Pennsylvania Act 72. The bank’s pledged securities are held as a pool securing all public 
funds on deposit, rather than being held in the School’s name. 
. 

Cash and cash equivalents reported on the financial statements represent – 
 

General Fund 5,637,314   
Student Activities Fund 65,761        
Capital Project Fund -                  
Proprietary Fund 30,795        

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,733,870
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  NOTE 3      ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

   Amounts due from other governments represent receivables due from local school districts for tuition 
revenues. Amounts are also due from federal and state sources for grants. The School’s management believes 
these receivables are fully collectable and has not established an allowance for doubtful accounts. 

 
   The School establishes a food service account for each student. These accounts are generally pre-funded 

by parents, but some accounts become delinquent. The School does not report accounts receivable for these de-
linquent student accounts as the School has little ability to enforce collection. 

    
NOTE 4      CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS   
 
  Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2021 was as follows – 
 

Beginning Ending
Governmental Activities Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated

   Land 280,357 280,357        
   Assets not yet placed in service 408,033 4,253,166   (5,410)         4,655,789     
Capital Assets Being Depreciated -

   Buildings and Improvements 1,072,934   10,824        -                  1,083,758     
   Site Improvements 164,802      -                  -                  164,802        
   Leasehold Improvements 742,424      6,000          -                  748,424        
   Furniture and Equipment 734,046      54,618        (12,819)       775,845        
   Vehicles 237,479      81,868        (59,380)       259,967        
       Total Assets Being Depreciated 2,951,685   153,310      (72,199)       3,032,796     
           Total Assets 3,640,075   4,406,476   (77,609)       7,968,942     
 Less Accumulated Depreciation For -
   Buildings and Improvements 61,938        39,775        -                  101,713        
   Site Improvements 135,233      9,343          -                  144,576        
   Leasehold Improvements 507,828      44,970        -                  552,798        
   Furniture and Equipment 467,755      81,253        (11,619)       537,389        
   Vehicles 187,652      27,110        (42,556)       172,206        
        Total Accumulated Depreciation 1,360,406   202,451      (54,175)       1,508,682     

        Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 1,591,279   (49,141)       (18,024)       1,524,114     

            Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net 2,279,669   4,204,025   (23,434)       6,460,260     

Business-Type Activities

Capital Assets Being Depreciated -

   Equipment 102,955      -                  -                  102,955        
   Less Accumulated Depreciation For -
    Equipment (47,678)       (8,927)         -                  (56,605)         

         Business-Type Activities Capital Assets, Net 55,277        (8,927)         -                  46,350          

Depreciation Expense was reported as follows:
  Governmental Activities 

    Unallocated activities 202,452        
   Business-Type Activities

    Food Service Fund 8,927            

 
 

At June 30, 2021, assets not yet placed in service represent construction costs for a gymnasium to be com-
pleted in the fall of 2021.  

The School has identified idle equipment included in governmental activities with original cost of $ 3,327 and 
net book value of $ 1,109. 
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Note 5 LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

 In March of 2021, the School entered into a debt agreement with Jersey Shore State Bank. The 
Bank made up to $5,000,000 available to the School for construction of a gymnasium. The first ad-
vance under this agreement was on May 24th and the balance on June 30, 2021 was $1,320,467.  

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Governmental Activities -

Notes Payable -
  Construction Loan -                     1,320,467    -                     1,320,467     

  
The note requires payment of interest only through March 24, 2023, and payments of interest and 
principle thereafter through March 24, 2053. Interest rates are fixed at 3.75 percent through March 24, 
2028, and are variable thereafter. The variable rate is plus 0.5 percent over the Wall Street Journal 
U.S. Prime Rate. Variable rates, other than default rates, are capped at 10%.  
 The note contains provisions that in an event of default, outstanding amounts become immediate-
ly due, and an additional default interest rate of 4% will apply. 
 The note includes a prepayment penalty whereby the Bank is entitled to assess a penalty of 2% of the loan 
balance at the time the prepayment is made. 
       Following is a schedule of maturities, based on the current interest rate of 3.75 percent and on the bal-
ance advanced to June 30, 2021 

Year Ended
June 30 Principal Interest Total

2022 -                  49,518     49,518        
2023 5,985          49,499     55,484        
2024 24,508        48,875     73,383        
2025 25,443        47,940     73,383        
2026 26,413        46,969     73,382        

2027-2031 147,974      218,938   366,912      
2032-2036 178,438      188,474   366,912      
2037-2041 215,174      151,738   366,912      
2042-2046 259,471      107,438   366,909      
2047-2051 312,894      54,018     366,912      
2052-2053 124,167      4,314       128,481      

Total 1,320,467   967,720   2,288,187   

 
 The note is secured by a mortgage on real property and by assignment of a deposit account with a balance 
of $1,000,000.  
  

NOTE 6  LEASE OBLIGATIONS 
 

   The School leases a significant portion of its facilities from Sugar Valley Concerned Citizens (a non-profit 
organization). Rent expense under this lease for the year ended June 30, 2021 was $472,800 and is reported in 
the general fund.  

   The lease in effect as of June 30, 2021, would have run through June 30, 2026. However, the School only 
paid rent to July 15, 2021, in anticipation of purchase of the facilities.  

 
  

NOTE 7       COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 

 The School pays employees for any unused vacation or other leave before each year end. Therefore, the 
School had no liabilities for compensated absences as of June 30, 2021. 
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NOTE 8 COMMITMENTS 
 

 In September 2020, the School entered into contracts for the construction of a gymnasium. At June 30, 
2021, commitments under contracts, including approved change orders, totaled $2,560,336.  

 
 
NOTE 9  PENSION PLAN 
 

General Information about the Pension Plan 
 
Plan description 
 

PSERS is a governmental cost-sharing multi-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retire-
ment benefits to public school employees of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The members eligible to 
participate in the System include all full-time public school employees, part-time hourly public school employees 
who render at least 500 hours of service in the school year, and part-time per diem public school employees who 
render at least 80 days of service in the school year in any of the reporting entities in Pennsylvania.  PSERS is-
sues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at www.psers.pa.gov. 
 
Measurement of financial information 
 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of re-
sources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Public 
School Employees’ Retirement System (PSERS) and additions to/deductions from PSERS’ fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by PSERS. For this purpose, benefit payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the ben-
efit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

  
Benefits provided 
 

PSERS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Members are eligible for monthly retirement 
benefits upon reaching (a) age 62 with at least 1 year of credited service; (b) age 60 with 30 or more years of cred-
ited service; or (c) 35 or more years of service regardless of age. Act 120 of 2010 (Act 120) preserves the benefits of 
existing members and introduced benefit reductions for individuals who become new members on or after Ju-
ly 1, 2011. Act 120 created two new membership classes, Membership Class T-E (Class T-E) and Membership 
Class T-F (Class T-F). To qualify for normal retirement, Class T-E and Class T-F members must work until age 65 
with a minimum of 3 years of service or attain a total combination of age and service that is equal to or greater 
than 92 with a minimum of 35 years of service. Benefits are generally equal to 2% or 2.5%, depending upon 
membership class, of the member’s final average salary (as defined in the Code) multiplied by the number of 
years of credited service. For members whose membership started prior to July 1, 2011, after completion of 
five years of service, a member’s right to the defined benefits is vested and early retirement benefits may be 
elected. For Class T-E and Class T-F members, the right to benefits is vested after ten years of service. 
 

Participants are eligible for disability retirement benefits after completion of five years of credited service. 
Such benefits are generally equal to 2% or 2.5%, depending upon membership class, of the member’s final aver-
age salary (as defined in the Code) multiplied by the number of years of credited service, but not less than one-
third of such salary nor greater than the benefit the member would have had at normal retirement age. Members 
over normal retirement age may apply for disability benefits. 
 

Death benefits are payable upon the death of an active member who has reached age 62 with at least one 
year of credited service (age 65 with at least three years of credited service for Class T-E and Class T-F mem-
bers) or who has at least five years of credited service (ten years for Class T-E and Class T-F members). Such bene-
fits are actuarially equivalent to the benefit that would have been effective if the member had retired on the day 
before death. 

 

Contributions 
Member Contributions: 

 
Active members who joined the System prior to July 22, 1983, contribute at 5.25% (Membership Class T-C) 

or at 6.50% (Membership Class T-D) of the member’s qualifying compensation. 
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NOTE 9      PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 

Members who joined the System on or after July 22, 1983, and who were active or inactive as of July 1, 
2001, contribute at 6.25% (Membership Class T-C) or at 7.50% (Membership Class T-D) of the member’s qualify-
ing compensation. 

 
Members who joined the System after June 30, 2001 and before July 1, 2011, contribute at 7.50% 

(automatic Membership Class T-D). For all new hires and for members who elected Class T-D membership, the 
higher contribution rates began with service rendered on or after January 1, 2002. 
 

Members who joined the System after June 30, 2011, automatically contribute at the Membership Class T-E 
rate of 7.5% (base rate) of the member’s qualifying compensation. All new hires after June 30, 2011, who elect 
Class T-F membership, contribute at 10.3% (base rate) of the member’s qualifying compensation. Membership 
Class T-E and Class T-F are affected by a “shared risk” provision in Act 120 of 2010 that in future fiscal years 
could cause the Membership Class T-E contribution rate to fluctuate between 7.5% and 9.5% and Membership 
Class T-F contribution rate to fluctuate between 10.3% and 12.3%. 

 
Employer Contributions: 

 
 The School’s’ contractually required contribution rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 (the year of 
the net pension liability being reported) was 33.43% of covered payroll, actuarially determined as an amount 
that, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by em-
ployees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to 
the pension plan from the School were $1,238,168 for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Re-
sources Related to Pensions 

 
At June 30, 2021, the School reported a liability of $ 12,851,000 for its proportionate share of the net pension 

liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability used to calculate 
the net pension liability was determined by rolling forward the System’s total pension liability as of June 30, 2019 
to June 30, 2020. The School’s proportion of the net pension liability was calculated utilizing the employer’s 
one-year reported contributions as it relates to the total one-year reported contributions, using contributions made in 
2020. The School’s proportion was .0261 percent, which was an increase of .0006 from its proportion meas-
ured in the prior year. 
 
 For the year ended June 30, 2021, the School recognized pension expense of $ 2,086,168.  At June 30, 
2021, the School reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience 34,000                         (308,000)                  
Changes in Assumptions -                                   -                               
Net difference between projected and actual 565,000                       -                               
        investment earnings
Changes in Proportion 896,000                       -       
Difference between employer contributions and -                                   -                               
        proportionate share of total contributions
Contributions subsequent to the measurement 
          date 1,251,481                    -                               

2,746,481                    (308,000)                  
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NOTE 9     PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
The amount of $ 1,251481 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from School con-
tributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the 
school year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred in-
flows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 

2022 520,000                       
2023 260,000                       
2024 239,000                       
2025 168,000                       

1,187,000                    

School Year Ended June 30:

 
Actuarial Assumptions  
 

The total pension liability as of June 30, 2020 was determined by rolling forward the System’s total pension 
liability at June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020 using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods includ-
ed in the measurement: 

 Actuarial cost method – Entry Age Normal – level 1% of pay. 
  Investment return – 7.25%, includes inflation of 2.75%. 
  Salary Growth – Effective average of 5.00%, comprised of inflation of 2.75% and 2.25% for real wage 

growth and for merit or seniority increases. 
  Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males and Females, adjusted to reflect 

PSERS’ experience and projected using a modified version of the MP- 2015 Mortality Improvement 
Scale. 

 
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2020 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial ex-

perience study that was performed for the five year period ended June 30, 2015. 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 

method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pen-
sion plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are com-
bined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by 
the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 
 

The pension plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is established and may be 
amended by the PSERS Board.  Plan assets are managed with a long-term objective of achieving and maintaining 
a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the pension plan. 

 
Long-Term

Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
Global public equity 15.0% 5.2%
Private equity 15.0% 7.2%
Fixed income 36.0% 1.1%
Commodities 8.0% 1.8%
Absolute return 10.0% 2.5%
Risk parity 8.0% 3.3%
Infrastructure/MLPs 6.0% 5.7%
Real estate 10.0% 5.5%
Cash 6.0% -1.0%
Financing (LIBOR) -14.0% -0.7%

100%

 
 

The above was the Board’s adopted asset allocation policy and best estimates of geometric real rates of 
return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2020. 
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NOTE 9      PENSION PLAN (Continued) 

 
Discount rate 
 
 The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribu-
tion rate and that contributions from employers will be made at contractually required rates, actuarially de-
termined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long- term expected rate of re-
turn on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 

 

Sensitivity of the School’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate 
 
 The following presents the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 7.25%, as well as what the 
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (6.25%) or 1-
percentage-point higher (8.25%) than the current rate: 

 
Current Discount

1% Decrease Rate 1% Increase
6.25% 7.25% 8.25%

15,900,000     12,851,000           10,026,900    
 

Additional information about the Plan’s fiduciary net position 
 
Detailed information about PSERS’ fiduciary net position is available in the PSERS Comprehensive Annual 

Financial Report which can be found on the System’s website at www.psers.pa.gov. 
 
 
NOTE 10 OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – (OPEB) 

 
PSERS provides both pension benefits, as described above, and OPEB benefits in the form of health insur-

ance premium assistance (Premium Assistance). The School has also adopted its own Sugar Valley Rural Char-
ter School Postemployment Benefit Plan which provides health insurance benefits to eligible retirees. 

  
1. PREMIUM ASSISTANCE PROGRAM  
 
General information about Premium Assistance: 
 
Plan Description 
 
 PSERS is a governmental cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides 
retirement benefits to public school employees of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The members eligible 
to participate in the System include all full-time public school employees, part-time hourly public school employees 
who render at least 500 hours of service in the school year, and part-time per diem public school employees who 
render at least 80 days of service in the school year in any of the reporting entities in Pennsylvania. PSERS is-
sues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at www.psers.pa.gov. 
 
Measurement of financial information 
 

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Public School 
Employees’ Retirement System (PSERS) and additions to/deductions from PSERS’ fiduciary net position have 
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by PSERS. For this purpose, benefit payments are rec-
ognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 

Effective January 1, 2002 under the provisions of Act 9 of 2001, participating eligible retirees are entitled to 
receive Premium Assistance payments equal to the lesser of $100 per month or their out-of-pocket monthly health 
insurance premium. To receive Premium Assistance, eligible retirees must obtain their health insurance through 
either their school employer or the PSERS’ Health Options Program (HOP). As of June 30, 2020 there are no as-
sumed future benefit increases to participating eligible retirees.  
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NOTE 10 OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – (OPEB) (Continued) 

 
Eligibility Criteria 
 
Retirees of the System can participate in Premium Assistance if they satisfy the following criteria 

 Having 24 ½ or more years of service, or 
 Are a disabled retiree, or 
 Have 15 or more years of service and retired after reaching superannuation age, and 
 Participate in the HOP or employer-sponsored health insurance program. 

 
Employer Contributions 
 

Employer contribution rates for Premium Assistance are established to provide reserves in the Health Insur-
ance Account that are sufficient for the payment of Premium Assistance benefits for each succeeding year. 
 

The School’s contractually required contribution rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 (the year of the 
net Premium Assistance liability being reported) was .84% of covered payroll, actuarially determined as an 
amount that, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by 
employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to 
the Premium Assistance plan were $31,093 for the year ended June 30, 2020. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions  
 

The total Premium Assistance liability as of June 30, 2020 was determined by rolling forward the Sys-
tem’s total Premium Assistance liability as of the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation to June 30, 2020. The actuarial 
assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study that 
was performed for the five year period ended June 30, 2015. The following actuarial assumptions applied to all pe-
riods included in the measurement: 

 
  Actuarial cost method – Entry Age Normal – level % of pay. 
  Investment return – 2.79%- S&P 20 year Municipal Bond Rate. 
  Salary Growth – Effective average of 5.00%, comprised of inflation of 2.75% and 2.25% for real wage 

growth and for merit or seniority increases. 
 Premium Assistance reimbursement capped at $1,200 per year. 
  Assumed healthcare cost trends were applied to retirees with less than $1,200 in premium assistance per 

year. 
  Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males and Females, adjusted to reflect 

PSERS’ experience and projected using a modified version of the MP- 2015 Mortality Improvement 
Scale. 

  Participation rate: 
o Eligible retirees will elect to participate pre-age 65 at 50% 
o Eligible retirees will elect to participate post-age 65 at 70% 

 
The following assumptions were used to determine the contribution rate: 
 
  The results of the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018 determined the employer contribution rate for the 

fiscal year 2020. 
 Cost method: Amount necessary to assure solvency of Premium Assistance through the third fiscal year af-

ter the valuation date. 
 Asset valuation method: Market value. 
 Participation rate: 63% of eligible retirees are assumed to elect premium assistance. 
 Mortality rates and retirement ages were based on the RP-2000 Combined Healthy Annuitant Tables with 

age set back 3 for both males and females for health annuitants and for dependent beneficiaries. For 
disabled annuitants, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Tables with age set back 7 years for males and 3 
years for females for disabled annuitants. (A unisex table based on the RP-2000 Combined Health Annu-
itant Tables with age set back 3 years for both genders assuming the population consisted of 25% males 
and 75% females is used to determine actuarial equivalent benefits.) 
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NOTE 10 OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – (OPEB) (Continued) 

 
Investments 
 

 Investments consist primarily of short term assets designed to protect the principal of the plan as-
sets. The expected rate of return on the Premium Assistance plan investments was determined using the plan as-
set allocation policy and best estimate of geometric real rates of return for each asset class. 

 
The Premium Assistance plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is established and 

may be amended by the Board. Under the program, as defined in the retirement code employer contribution rates 
for Premium Assistance are established to provide reserves in the Health Insurance Account that are sufficient for 
the payment of Premium Assistance for each succeeding year.  
 

Premium Long-term
Assistance Target Expected Real

OPEB- Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return

Cash 50.30% -1.00%
US Core Fixed Income 46.50% -0.10%
Non-US Developed Fixed 3.20% -0.10%

100.00%

 
The above is the Board’s adopted asset allocation policy and best estimate of geometric real rates of return 

for each major class as of June 30, 2020. 
 
Discount Rate 
 
 The discount rate used to measure the total Premium Assistance liability was 2.66%. Under the plan’s fund-
ing policy, contributions are structured for short term funding of Premium Assistance. The funding policy 
sets contribution rates necessary to assure solvency of Premium Assistance through the third fiscal year after 
the actuarial valuation date. The Premium Assistance account is funded to establish reserves that are suffi-
cient for the payment of Premium Assistance benefits for each succeeding year. Due to the short term funding pol-
icy, the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position was not projected to be sufficient to meet projected future benefit pay-
ments, therefore the plan is considered a “pay-as-you-go” plan. A discount rate of 2.66% which represents the 
S&P 20 year Municipal Bond Rate at June 30, 2020, was applied to all projected benefit payments to measure 
the total OPEB liability. 
 
Sensitivity of the System Net OPEB liability to Change in Healthcare Cost Trends 
 
 Healthcare cost trends were applied to retirees receiving less than $1,200 in annual Premium Assistance. 
As of June 30, 2020, retirees Premium Assistance benefits are not subject to future healthcare cost increases. The 
annual Premium Assistance reimbursement for qualifying retirees is capped at a maximum of $1,200. As of June 
30, 2020, 93,693 retirees were receiving the maximum amount allowed of $1,200 per year. As of June 30, 2020, 
688 members were receiving less than the maximum amount allowed of $1,200 per year. The actual number of re-
tirees receiving less than the $1,200 per year cap is a small percentage of the total population and has a minimal 
impact on Healthcare Cost Trends as depicted below. 
 
 The following presents the School’s proportionate share of the net Premium Assistance OPEB liability for 
June 30, 2020, calculated using current Healthcare cost trends as well as what the net OPEB liability would be 
if the health cost trends were 1- percentage point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the current rate: 
 

Current
1% Decrease Trend Rate 1% Increase

School's proportionate share of the net
Premium Assistance liability 568,000          568,000           568,000        
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NOTE 10 OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – (OPEB) (Continued) 

 
Sensitivity of the School’s proportionate share of the net Premium Assistance OPEB liability to changes in the dis-
count rate 
 

The following presents the School’s proportionate share of the net Premium Assistance OPEB liability calcu-
lated using the discount rate of 2.66%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that 1- percentage point lower (1.66%) or 1- percentage point higher (3.66%) than the current rate: 
 

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

1.66% 2.66% 3.66%

School's proportionate share of the net
Premium Assistance liability 648,000          568,000           502,000        

 
 

 
Premium Assistance fiduciary net position 
 

Detailed information about PSERS’ fiduciary net position is available in PSERS Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report which can be found on the System’s website at www.psers.pa.gov. 
 

 
2. SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN 

 
Plan Description.  
 

The Sugar Valley Charter School Postemployment Benefits Plan (the SVRCS Plan) is a single-employer de-
fined benefit healthcare plan administered by the School. The School adopted the SVRCS Plan in February of 
2016. The School has elected to pay benefits directly from School assets, rather than create and then fund a trust 
to provide benefits. As the SVRCS Plan has no trust, the SVRCS Plan does not have a stand-alone financial 
statement to present. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 

The SVRCS Plan was established in accordance with Act 110 of October 20, 1988, and Act 43 of July 8, 
1989, by which the Pennsylvania Public Education Code was amended, obligating the School to make the school 
group health insurance coverage available to its retirees who have met certain criteria. For subsidized members, 
the School will pay 100% of the single premium for medical, prescription drug, and vision coverage for the retired 
employee. Retirees can elect dental coverage by paying the full premium. Spouses and dependents are not eligi-
ble to receive subsidized coverage. 

 
Members who do not meet the requirements for subsidized coverage, but do meet requirements of Act 

110/43 are eligible to receive coverage for themselves, their spouse and dependents, by paying the full premium 
determined for the purpose of COBRA. 

 
Coverage continues until the retiree reaches Medicare Age or age 65, whichever comes first. 
 

Eligibility Criteria 
 

Subsidized members must reach age 59 ½ and have 15 years of service with Sugar Valley Rural Charter 
School. Unsubsidized employees are eligible under Act 110/43 upon retiring with 30 years PSERS service or up-
on superannuation retirement. 

 
At June 30, 2019 there were 97 active employees, no vested former participants and no retired participants.  
 

Employer Contributions 
 

  The School pays premiums for subsidized members as they become due. 
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NOTE 10 OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - (OPEB) (Continued) 

 
Multiple Year Reporting  
  
 Pursuant to GASB No. 75, an actuarial valuation can be used over a two year period. The figures reported 
reflect the measurement date of June 30, 2020 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 and are based on an ac-
tuarial valuation date of July 1, 2019.    
 
Actuarial Assumptions  
 

The following actuarial assumptions were used in calculating the School’s net OPEB liability and de-
ferred inflows and outflows of resources. 
 

  Actuarial cost method – Entry Age Normal. 
  Discount Rate – 1.86%, Based on S&P Municipal Bond 20-Year High Grade Rate Index at July 1, 2020. 
  Salary Growth - Salary increases are composed of a 2.5% cost of living adjustment, 1% real wage growth, 

and for teachers and administrators a merit increase which varies by age from 2.75% to 0%. 
 Withdrawal – Rates of withdrawal vary by age, gender and years of service. Sample rates for employees 

with more than 10 years of service are shown below 
Age   Male Rate Female Rate 
25   2.57%  5.02% 
35   1.50%  2.85% 
45   1.37%  1.65% 
55   3.38%  3.38% 
60   5.57%  5.57% 

   Rates for new employees start at 22.9% for both men and women and decrease with age and service. 
  Retirement – Assumed retirement rates are based on PSERS plan experience and vary by age, service and 

gender. 
            Age 55 & 25 Years of Service                     Superannuation 

   Age  Males  Females   Males  Females 
   55  19%  19%   27%  10% 
   60  14%  17%   31%  36% 
   65  100%  100%   100%  100% 

  Per Capita Claims Cost – The per capita claims cost for medical and prescription drug is based on the ex-
pected portion of the group’s overall cost attributed to individuals in the specified age and gender brack-
ets. Dental and vision cost are assumed to not vary with age and gender 

Medical and Prescription Coverage 
   Age   Males                   Females 
   45-49   $7,508  $10,843 
   50-54   $9,944  $12,255 
   55-59   $12,111  $12,823 
   60-64   $15,804  $14,731 

  Health care cost trends – 5.5% in 2020 through 2023. Rates gradually decrease from 5.4% in 2024 to 4.0% 
in 2075 and later based on the Society of Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend Model. 

  Disability – No disability is assumed. 
 Mortality rates are assumed preretirement and postretirement using the rates assumed in the PSERS de-

fined benefit pension plan actuarial valuation. Incorporated into the table are rates projected generation-
ally by Buck Modified 2016 projection scale to reflect mortality improvement. 

 Participant Data is based on census information as of August 2019. Due to timing of the school turnover, the 
data is believed to be representative of the population for the 2019-20 school year. 

  Percent of Eligible Retirees Electing Coverage in the Plan: 
o 100% of retirees receiving a subsidy are assumed to elect coverage 
o 0% of retirees eligible under Act 110/43 are assumed to elect coverage 

 
Changes in Assumptions – 

 
The discount rate changed from 3.36% at June 30, 2019 to 1.86% at June 30, 2020 
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NOTE 10     OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - (OPEB) (Continued) 

.  
Sensitivity of the SVRCS Plan net OPEB liability to change in healthcare cost trends 
 

The following represents the SVRCS Plan net liability for June 30, 2020, calculated using current healthcare 
cost trends as well as what the system net liability would be if healthcare cost trends were 1 - percentage point 
lower, or 1 - percentage point higher than the current rate: 
 
 

Current
1% Decrease Trend Rate 1% Increase

SVRCS Plan net liability 812,980           961,847           1,144,425         
 
Sensitivity of the School’s proportionate share of the SVRCS Plan net OPB liability to changes in the discount rate 
 

The following presents the SVRCS Plan net liability, calculating using the discount rate of 1.86%, as well as 
what the SVRCS Plan net liability would be if it were calculating using a discount rate that was 1- percentage point 
lower (0.86%) or 1- percentage point higher (2.86%) than the current rate: 
 

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

0.86% 1.86% 2.86%

SVRCS Plan net liability 1,057,908        961,847           872,042           
 

 
Change in SVRCS Plan Liability 
 

Liability Balance at 6/30/2019 722,248           

Service Costs 74,716             
Interest 26,778             
Changes in Benefit Terms -                       
Differences Between Expected and Actual
          Experience -                       
Changes in Assumptions 138,105           
Benefit Payments -                       
Other Changes -                       
Total Change 239,599           

Liability Balance at 6/30/2020 961,847           

 
 

 
3. Summary of OPEB  Liabilities, OBEP Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred In-

flows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 

 At June 30, 2020, the School reported net OPEB liabilities as follows: 
 Proportionate share of Premium Assistance  568,000 
 SVRCS Plan     961,846 
 Total                 1,529,846 
 

 
The net liability for the SVRCS Plan was measured as of June 30, 2020. The liability is calculated based on 

actuarial report as of June 30, 2019. 
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NOTE 10     OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – (OPEB) (Continued)  

 
The net liability for Premium Assistance was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total Premium As-

sistance liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by rolling forward the System’s total 
OPEB liability as of June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020. The School’s proportion of the net OPEB l iabi l i ty was 
calculated utilizing the employer’s one-year reported covered payroll as it relates to the total one-year reported cov-
ered payroll, using covered payroll reported for 2020. The School’s proportion was .0263 percent, which was an 
increase of .0002 from its proportion measured in the prior year. 

 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the School recognized OPEB expense of: 
Premium Assistance     41,002 

 SVRCS Plan      93,665 
 Total      134,667 

 
       At June 30, 2021, the School reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows as follows: 

 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience 5,000                           -                               
Changes in Assumptions 23,000                         (12,000)                    
Net difference between projected and actual 
        investment earnings 1,000                           -                               
Changes in Proportion 72,000                         -       
Difference between employer contributions and 
        proportionate share of total contributions -                                   -                               
Contributions subsequent to the measurement 
          date 30,464                         -                               

131,464                       (12,000)                    

Premium Assistance

 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience 24,007                         (25,459)                    
Changes in Assumptions 189,547                       (26,396)                    

213,554                       (51,855)                    

SVRCS Plan

 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience 29,007                         (25,459)                    
Changes in Assumptions 212,547                       (38,396)                    
Net difference between projected and actual 
        investment earnings 1,000                           -                               
Changes in Proportion 72,000                         -       
Difference between employer contributions and 
        proportionate share of total contributions -                                   -                               
Contributions subsequent to the measurement 
          date 30,464                         -                               

345,018                       (63,855)                    

Total
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NOTE 10 OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – (OPEB) (Continued) 

 
The total $34,464 reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from School contributions subse-

quent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the school year 
ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of re-
sources will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

 
School Year Premium SVRCS Total

Ended June 30: Assistance Plan
2022 19,000                         9,343                           28,343                         
2023 19,000                         9,343                           28,343                         
2024 19,000                         9,343                           28,343                         
2025 19,000                         9,343                           28,343                         
2026 13,000                         9,343                           22,343                         

thereafter 114,984                       114,984                       
89,000                         161,699                       250,699                       

 

Note 11 GRANT PROGRAMS 

 The School participates in numerous state and federal grant programs, which are governed by rules and 
regulations of the grantor agencies.  Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and ad-
justment by the grantor agencies; therefore, to the extent that the School has not complied with the rules and reg-
ulations governing the grants, refunds of any money received may be required and the collectability of any related 
receivable at June 30, 2021 may be impaired.  In the opinion of the School, there are no significant contingent lia-
bilities relating to compliance with the rules and regulations governing the respective grants; therefore, no provi-
sion has been recorded in the accompanying financial statements for such contingencies. 

 
NOTE 12      RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

 The School is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; er-
rors and omissions; and natural disasters.  The School has purchased various insurance policies to safeguard its 
assets from risk of loss.  Insurance coverage is consistent with previous years.  During the year ended June 30, 
2021, and the three previous years, no settlements exceeded insurance coverage.  
 
 

NOTE 13     RESTATEMENT 
 

At July 1, 2020, the School implemented the guidance of GASB Statement 84- Fiduciary Activities. This 
Statement required that student activities account transactions that were previously reported as an agency fund (a 
type of fiduciary fund), would be reported as a special revenue fund beginning on July 1, 2020. Additionally, ele-
mentary student activities transactions that were previously reported in the general fund, would also be reported 
as part of this new special revenue fund beginning on July 1, 2020.  

 
These changes resulted in restatement of fund balances in the fund statements and restatement of net posi-

tion in the entity-wide statements as follows:    
I Changes in 

General Agency Special Revenue I Entity-wide
Implementation of GASB Statement 84: Fund Fund Fund I Statements
(Decrease)/Increase in Cash (8,163)$      (51,728)$    59,891$                I 51,728$         
Decrease in Other Liabilities 51,728$     I
Recognition of Accounts Payable (1,216)$                 I (1,216)$          
Net(Decrease)/ Increase in Fund Balance I Net Position (8,163)$      -$           58,675$                I 50,512$         

          

Changes in Fund Statements

 NOTE 14   SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
  
 On September 30, 2021. The School purchased facilities it had previously rented from Sugar Valley Concerned Citi-
zens (a non-profit organization). The purchase price was $2,344,770, and an initial payment of $1,066,000 was made. The 
remaining balance of $1,278,770, plus interest of 3%, is to be paid in variable installments over 105 months. 
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Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final (Budgetary Basis) (Negative)

REVENUES
  Local Sources 8,518,088     8,518,088    8,730,168                212,080          
  State Sources 59,000          59,000         31,512                     (27,488)           
  Federal Sources 232,000        232,000       413,391                   181,391          

     Total Revenues 8,809,088     8,809,088   9,175,071                365,983          
EXPENDITURES
  Regular Instruction 3,766,524     3,766,524    3,686,284                80,240            
  Special Programs 1,390,890     1,390,890    1,387,487                3,403              
  Other Instructional Programs 13,175          13,175         3,249                       9,926              
          Total  Instruction 5,170,589     5,170,589   5,077,020                93,569            
  Pupil  Services 314,671        314,671       263,838                   50,833            
  Instructional Staff Services 359,494        359,494       339,106                   20,388            
  Administrative Services 730,349        730,349       743,864                   (13,515)           
  Pupil Health 247,364        247,364       260,785                   (13,421)           
  Business Services 133,811        133,811       133,277                   534                 
  Operation & Maintenance of Plant Services 1,062,085     1,062,085    944,386                   117,699          
  Student Transportation Services 107,515        107,515       124,068                   (16,553)           
  Central & Other Support Services 411,824        411,824       417,372                   (5,548)             
          Total  Support Services 3,367,113     3,367,113   3,226,696                140,417          
  Student Activities 230,165        230,165       91,123                     139,042          
  Scholarships and Awards -                    -                  100                          (100)                
          Total  Non-Instructional Services 230,165        230,165      91,223                    138,942          
  Debt Service -                    -                  2,788                       (2,788)             
          Total  Facilities Acquisition and Improvement -                   -                  2,788                      (2,788)            

     Total Expenditures 8,767,867     8,767,867   8,397,727                370,140          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
  Interfund Transfers - Out (30,000)         (30,000)        (2,728,270)               (2,698,270)      
  Other Sources -                    -                  36,206                     36,206            
  Budgetary Reserve -                    -                  -                               -                      

     Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (30,000)        (30,000)       (2,692,064)              (2,662,064)      

  Net Change in Fund Balance 11,221          11,221         (1,914,720)               (1,925,941)      

  Fund Balance - Beginning 6,678,059     6,678,059    6,720,941                42,882            
  Restatement of Beginning Balance (8,163)                      (8,163)             
  Fund Balance - Beginning - as restated 6,678,059     6,678,059    6,712,778                34,719            

  Fund Balance - Ending 6,689,280     6,689,280    4,798,058                (1,891,222)      
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SCHEDULE B

Measurement date 30-Jun-20

School's proportion of the net pension
liability (asset) 0.0261%

School's proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset) 12,851,000   

 
School's covered-employee payroll 3,701,548     

School's proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset) as a percentage
of its covered-employee payroll 347.18%

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension liability 54.32%

Measurement date 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15

School's proportion of the net pension
liability (asset) 0.0255% 0.0241% 0.0225% 0.0270% 0.0188%

School's proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset) 11,930,000   11,569,000   11,112,000   10,258,000   8,143,000    

    
School's covered-employee payroll 3,514,458     3,242,009     2,996,369     2,675,420     2,422,716    

School's proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset) as a percentage
of its covered-employee payroll 339.45% 356.85% 370.85% 383.42% 336.11%

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension liability 55.66% 54.00% 51.84% 50.14% 54.36%
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SCHEDULE C

School Year End 30-Jun-21 30-Jun-20

Contractually required contribution   1,251,481 1,238,168   

Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution   1,251,481 1,238,168   

Contribution deficiency (excess) - - 

School's covered-employee payroll 3,715,153  3,701,548   

Contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 33.69% 33.45%

School Year End 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15

Contractually required contribution 1,145,713  1,029,014   874,940      668,855       496,657          

Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 1,145,713  1,029,014   874,940      668,855       496,657          

Contribution deficiency (excess) -                 -                  -                  -                   - 

School's covered-employee payroll 3,514,458  3,242,009   2,996,369   2,675,420    2,422,716       

Contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 32.60% 31.74% 29.20% 25.00% 20.50%

45

SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Schedule of School's Contributions for Pension  Benefits
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania School Employees Retirement System - PSERS

June 30, 2021

See accompanying Notes to Required Supplementary Information



SCHEDULE D

Measurement date 30-Jun-20

School's proportion of the net Premium Assistance  OPEB
liability (asset) 0.0263%

School's proportion of the net Premium Assistance  OPEB
liability (asset) 568,000        

 
School's covered-employee payroll 3,701,548     

School's proportionate share of the net
Premium Assistance OPEB liability(asset) as a percentage
of its covered-employee payroll 15.34%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
 total Premium Assistance OPEB liability 5.69%

Measurement date 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-16

School's proportion of the net Premium Assistance  OPEB
liability (asset) 0.0255% 0.0241% 0.0225% 0.0270%

School's proportion of the net Premium Assistance  OPEB
liability (asset) 542,000        502,000        458,000      446,000      

    
School's covered-employee payroll 3,514,458     3,242,009     2,996,369   2,675,420   

School's proportionate share of the net
Premium Assistance OPEB liability(asset) as a percentage
of its covered-employee payroll 15.42% 15.48% 15.29% 16.67%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
 total Premium Assistance OPEB liability 5.56% 5.56% 5.73% 5.47%

46

SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL

Schedule of School's Proportionate Share of Net  Premium Assistance OPEB Liability
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania School Employees Retirement System (PSERS)

June 30, 2021

See accompanying Notes to Required Supplementary Information.



SCHEDULE E

School Year End 30-Jun-21 30-Jun-20

Contractually required contribution 30,464        31,093       

Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 30,464        31,093       

Contribution deficiency (excess) -                 -                 

School's covered-employee payroll 3,715,153   3,701,548  

Contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 0.82% 0.84%

School Year End 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-17

Contractually required contribution 29,170        26,909       24,870        

Contributions in relation to the
contractually required contribution 29,170        26,909       24,870        

Contribution deficiency (excess) -                 -                 -                 

School's covered-employee payroll 3,514,458   3,242,009  2,996,369   

Contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 0.83% 0.83% 0.83%
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SCHEDULE F

Measurement date 30-Jun-20 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-17

OPEB Liability at beginning of measurement period 722,248     632,153      559,892      453,251       

Service Costs 74,716       71,021        66,825        64,626         
Interest 26,778       20,955        19,394        12,722         
Changes in Benefit Terms -                 -                 -                  -                   
Differences Between Expected and Actual
     Experience -                 26,831        (32,247)        
Changes in Assumptions 138,105     (28,712)       (838)            74,366         
Benefit Payments -                 -                 (13,120)       (12,826)        
Other Changes -                 -                 -                  -                   
Total Change 239,599     90,095        72,261        106,641       

OPEB Liability at  end of measurement period 961,847     722,248      632,153      559,892       

Covered Payroll 3,510,579  3,510,579   3,061,024   3,061,024    

OPEB Liability as a Percent of Covered Payroll 27.4% 20.6% 20.7% 18.3%
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 

NOTE 1  SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES, BUDGET AND 
ACTUAL-   Schedule A 

 
An operating budget is adopted prior to the beginning of each year for the General Fund on a modified 

accrual basis of accounting.  The General Fund is the only fund for which a budget is legally required. The budget 
was not amended during the year ended June 30, 2021. 

 
NOTE 2 SCHEDULE OF THE SCHOOL’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY- Schedule B 
  

and 
 

SCHEDULE OF THE SCHOOL’S CONTRIBUTIONS FOR PENSION BENEFITS – Schedule C 
 
Information about the significant methods and assumptions used in the actuarially determined calculations 

can be found in Note 9 to the financial statements. 
 
NOTE 3 SCHEDULE OF THE SCHOOL’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PREMIUM ASSISTANCE OPEB 

LIABILITY – Schedule D 
  

and 
 

SCHEDULE OF THE SCHOOL’S CONTRIBUTIONS FOR PREMIUM ASSISTANCE OPEB – Schedule E 
 

Information about the significant methods and assumptions used in the actuarially determined calculations 
can be found in Note 10 to the financial statements. 

 
NOTE 4 SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET LIABILITY AND COVERED EMPLOYEE PAYROLL FOR THE SVRCS PLAN 

- OPEB – Schedule F 
 

 Information about the significant methods and assumptions used in the actuarially determined calculations 
can be found in Note 10 to the financial statements. 
 

No assets are accumulated in a trust to fund benefits.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 
ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS  

Board of Trustees 
SUGAR VALLEY RURAL CHARTER SCHOOL 
Loganton, PA 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of Sugar Valley Rural Charter School, as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated February 21, 2022.  

Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the School’s internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal 
control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, 
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely 
basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. 
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters  

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement 
amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report  

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results 
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Mifflinburg, PA 

February 21, 2022 
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